
 United Nations  A/C.5/60/SR.51

  
 

General Assembly 
Sixtieth session 
 
Official Records 

 
Distr.: General 
19 July 2006 
 
Original: English 

 

 

This record is subject to correction. Corrections should be sent under the signature of a member 
of the delegation concerned within one week of the date of publication to the Chief of the 
Official Records Editing Section, room DC2-750, 2 United Nations Plaza, and incorporated in a 
copy of the record. 

Corrections will be issued after the end of the session, in a separate corrigendum for each 
Committee. 
 

06-35555 (E) 
*0635555* 

Fifth Committee 
 

Summary record of the 51st meeting 
Held at Headquarters, New York, on Monday, 22 May 2006, at 10 a.m. 
 

Chairman: Mr. Ashe . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (Antigua and Barbuda) 
  Chairman of the Advisory Committee on Administrative  

and Budgetary Questions: Mr. Saha 
 
 

Contents 
 

Organization of work 

Agenda item 121: Financial reports and audited financial statements, and reports of 
the Board of Auditors (continued) 

Agenda item 136: Administrative and budgetary aspects of the financing of the 
United Nations peacekeeping operations (continued) 

Agenda item 139: Financing of the United Nations Peacekeeping Force in Cyprus  

Agenda item 142: Financing of the United Nations Mission of Support in East Timor 

Agenda item 143: Financing of the United Nations Mission in Ethiopia and Eritrea 

Agenda item 144: Financing of the United Nations Observer Mission in Georgia 

Agenda item 146: Financing of the activities arising from Security Council 
resolution 687 (1991) 

(a) United Nations Iraq-Kuwait Observation Mission 

Agenda item 147: Financing of the United Nations Interim Administration Mission 
in Kosovo 

Agenda item 149: Financing of the United Nations peacekeeping forces in the 
Middle East 

(a) United Nations Disengagement Observer Force 

(b) United Nations Interim Force in Lebanon 

Agenda item 150: Financing of the United Nations Mission in Sierra Leone 

Other matters 
 



A/C.5/60/SR.51  
 

06-35555 2 
 

The meeting was called to order at 10 a.m. 
 
 
 

Organization of work (A/C.5/60/L.40) 
 

1. The Chairman drew attention to the proposed 
programme of work and to the list of documents to be 
considered at the current part of the resumed session 
(A/C.5/60/L.40). 

2. Ms. Lock (South Africa), speaking on behalf of 
the Group of 77 and China, said that, in view of the 
Committee’s heavy workload, it was regrettable that 
the Group must once again express concern at the late 
submission of a substantial number of reports, which 
had forced the Committee to delay the start of its work 
by three weeks. Moreover, the Advisory Committee on 
Administrative and Budgetary Questions (ACABQ) 
had been prevented from preparing a comprehensive 
report on peacekeeping policy matters. As a result, 
Member States would not be able to have a fully 
informed discussion of cross-cutting policy issues or of 
the extent to which the Secretariat had implemented 
General Assembly resolution 59/296. 

3. The Group of 77 and China was concerned at the 
tendency for budgets of peacekeeping operations to be 
submitted late and in breach of the six-week rule for 
document issuance set by the Assembly. The size of 
peacekeeping budgets had increased significantly in 
recent years, and yet Member States were given less 
and less time each year to complete their consideration 
of the related resource requirements and policy aspects. 
The Group therefore expected the Secretariat to make a 
greater effort in future to comply with the provisions of 
the relevant General Assembly resolutions. 

4. The Group wished to stress the tentative nature of 
the programme of work, as well as its expectation that 
the Bureau would amend the programme as necessary 
to reflect the progress made in the Committee’s 
negotiations. It regretted that the Committee would not 
be able to adopt a comprehensive resolution on cross-
cutting issues at the resumed session. However, it 
would examine the budgets of peacekeeping missions 
carefully and ensure that they were adopted 
expeditiously in the plenary Assembly, so that the 
Secretariat could issue assessment letters in time for 
the start of the new financial period. The Group was 
aware that budgets were time-bound but expected that 
the programme of work would provide Member States 
with enough time to consider them thoroughly. 

5. It was imperative for the Secretariat to implement 
General Assembly resolution 60/260 and for the reports 
on Secretariat and management reform to be prepared 
strictly in accordance with its provisions. It was also 
imperative to ensure that adequate time and conference 
services were provided to the Committee to consider 
the reports. Every effort should be made to avoid a 
repetition of the situation that had arisen in April 2006, 
when the first part of the resumed session had been 
extended in the absence of any formal decision to that 
effect. It was essential that the rules of procedure of the 
General Assembly should be respected. 

6. Mr. Drofenik (Austria), speaking on behalf of 
the European Union, the acceding countries Bulgaria 
and Romania; the candidate countries Croatia, the 
former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia and Turkey; 
the stabilization and association process countries 
Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina, and Serbia and 
Montenegro; and, in addition, Iceland, the Republic of 
Moldova and Ukraine, said he was concerned that a 
number of the reports submitted for discussion would 
not be considered at the resumed session but wished to 
commend the Bureau for preparing a balanced and 
realistic programme of work. He was confident that, 
with the necessary political will and spirit of 
cooperation, the Committee would successfully 
conclude its negotiations by the scheduled date of 
30 June 2006 at the latest. 

7. The Committee would need to consider the 
budgets for the support account, the United Nations 
Logistics Base at Brindisi and 15 peacekeeping 
operations. Some of the missions were very large and 
would require both extensive discussion and careful 
consideration. The European Union attached particular 
importance to the cross-cutting issues relating to 
peacekeeping. It was essential for the Committee to 
give the relevant policy guidance before approving the 
resources for peacekeeping operations. 

8. The European Union noted with concern that the 
Advisory Committee had commented neither on the 
overview report on the financing of the United Nations 
peacekeeping operations nor on some of the other 
thematic reports scheduled for consideration at the 
current part of the resumed session. Even though it 
might not be possible to approve a cross-cutting 
resolution, important thematic issues would need to be 
addressed in the appropriate context. 



 A/C.5/60/SR.51

 

3 06-35555 
 

9. The European Union attached the utmost 
importance to the expected reports relating to the 
implementation of the 2005 World Summit Outcome, 
especially those on investing in the United Nations, 
procurement and oversight, and governance. It also 
awaited the request of the Secretary-General to lift the 
spending cap imposed by the General Assembly in 
resolution 60/247 A on the 2006-2007 programme 
budget. 

10. It was important to agree on a common strategy 
for the capital master plan. The European Union stood 
ready to take a decision on the matter at the current 
part of the resumed session and in general preferred 
strategy IV. The resignation of the Executive Director 
of the Capital Master Plan Project was regrettable, and 
the Committee must avoid any further delays. 

11. Recalling that a non-consensus draft resolution 
had been put forward at the first part of the resumed 
session, he said that the practice must not be repeated. 
The Committee worked on the basis of consensus, and 
that working method, which had served the Committee 
well for at least 20 years, must be continued in order to 
ensure the Committee’s effective functioning. 

12. Mr. Torrington (Guyana), speaking on behalf of 
the Rio Group, said that even though the Committee 
had been required to deal with extremely difficult 
issues in recent months, the pursuit of consensus 
outcomes should remain Members’ common objective. 
General Assembly resolution 60/260 provided 
considerable scope for management reform, and it was 
crucial that the momentum should be maintained. 

13. The Rio Group attached great importance to 
enabling the United Nations peacekeeping missions to 
achieve their objectives. In that connection, adequate 
financing was crucial. The role played by the United 
Nations Stabilization Mission in Haiti (MINUSTAH) in 
helping to restore democratic institutions in that 
country merited special mention, and the Rio Group 
supported its efforts. 

14. In accordance with General Assembly resolution 
49/233 A, the consideration of matters relating to the 
financing of peacekeeping operations was the primary 
focus of the second part of the resumed session. A 
broad overview of the issues common to the 
performance of all peacekeeping missions was critical 
to their proper assessment. The Rio Group therefore 
deeply regretted that the Advisory Committee’s report 
on cross-cutting issues would not be available for 

consideration, particularly as its absence might have a 
negative impact on the financing of some missions, as 
well as on their efficiency. 

15. The current reform process was critical, but it 
was also essential to provide sufficient time for the 
consideration of peacekeeping operations in all their 
aspects. The Rio Group would encourage the Bureau to 
allocate appropriate time for the consideration of all 
agenda items, and also wished to reiterate the 
importance of the timely provision of all 
documentation. 

16. The Rio Group had repeatedly stressed the 
urgency of the refurbishment of United Nations 
Headquarters, and the Committee must proceed swiftly 
to articulate a clear strategy for that process. The 
resignation of the Executive Director of the Capital 
Master Plan Project was regrettable, particularly since 
it had been due in part to a lack of interest on the part 
of some delegations. 

17. The implementation of measures aimed at 
increasing the efficiency and effectiveness of 
programme delivery and improving the system of 
accountability and the integrity and transparency of the 
administration of justice within the United Nations 
system would ensure commitment to the highest 
standards of performance and conduct. 

18. The Group regarded as unfortunate any restriction 
imposed on the Secretary-General’s authorized 
budgetary expenditure and trusted that no undue 
linkage would be made between the lifting of the 
current spending cap and the negotiations on reform. 

19. The Chairman said he took it that the 
Committee wished to approve the proposed programme 
of work on the understanding that adjustments would 
be made, as necessary, during the course of the session. 

20. It was so decided. 
 

Agenda item 121: Financial reports and audited 
financial statements, and reports of the Board of 
Auditors (continued) (A/60/5 (Vol. II) and Corr.1, 
A/60/691 and A/60/784) 
 

21. Mr. Cabatuan (Chairman of the Audit 
Operations Committee of the United Nations Board of 
Auditors) introduced the report of the Board of 
Auditors on United Nations peacekeeping operations 
(A/60/5 (Vol. II) and Corr.1), which covered the 
12-month period from 1 July 2004 to 30 June 2005. 



A/C.5/60/SR.51  
 

06-35555 4 
 

During that period, the Board’s audit of peacekeeping 
operations, excluding Headquarters, had included visits 
to 2 field missions funded from the regular budget, 15 
missions funded from special assessed contributions 
and the United Nations Logistics Base at Brindisi. The 
audit conducted at Headquarters had also covered the 
Peacekeeping Reserve Fund and the support account 
for peacekeeping operations, 1 liquidated mission and 
22 completed missions. 

22. As reflected in paragraph 5 of its report, the 
Board continued to pay special attention to the 
concerns and requests of the Advisory Committee and 
the General Assembly, notably with respect to the need 
for details concerning the age of recommendations; 
lessons learned with regard to the assignment of 
resident auditors in the missions; implementation of 
standardized procedures and methods for information-
gathering in respect of results-based budgeting; rations 
management; medical evacuation arrangements; and 
supplier performance evaluations. 

23. The audit opinion expressed by the Board was 
reflected in chapter III of the report. Although the 
Board had not qualified its opinions on the financial 
statements and the regularity of the transactions it had 
tested, it had nevertheless drawn attention to the 
review of procurement activities undertaken by the 
Office of Internal Oversight Services (OIOS); the 
review of the Procurement Service’s internal controls, 
which had been conducted by a private firm, and the 
forensic audit commissioned by the Administration, 
which would be carried out in the context of the host 
country legal system. The Board had emphasized those 
matters because the impact, if any, of those reviews 
and investigations on the financial statements as a 
whole could not be determined by early 2006. 

24. The total income for peacekeeping operations had 
amounted to $4.5 billion, an increase of $1.5 billion, or 
50 per cent, compared with the previous financial year. 
That was largely in line with the expected 41 per cent 
increase in expenditures, to $4.1 billion from 
$2.9 billion. Outstanding assessed contributions had 
risen by 9 per cent. In operational terms, the 
Department of Peacekeeping Operations had cash of 
only $1.74 for every $2.05 of liabilities as at 30 June 
2005. 

25. In reviewing the procurement and contract 
management of the Department of Peacekeeping 
Operations, the Board had addressed only the extent to 

which its recommendations had been implemented. 
Although there had been noticeable improvements in 
certain areas, the Board remained concerned about 
several issues: systems contracts had not been allocated 
on an equitable geographical basis; vendor review 
committees had still not been established at all 
missions; guidelines for implementing ethical 
principles for United Nations procurement staff had not 
yet been promulgated; procurement plans were not yet 
being used as a tool for effective and efficient 
procurement management; and performance bonds had 
not always been obtained from contractors in a timely 
manner. 

26. Air transport expenditures had amounted to 
$371.2 million out of the $459.2 million budgeted, and 
only 43 per cent of the contracts awarded during the 
2003/04 period had been subjected to on-site aviation 
quality inspection. A total of 90,973 flight hours had 
been utilized, 42,323 hours fewer than the 133,296 
budgeted hours. Although such savings were welcome, 
they showed a need for improved calculation of the 
expected flight hours based on which funds were 
allocated. Aviation support staffing had been 
inadequate to manage the increased air assets, raising 
concerns about the safety and efficiency of air 
operations. 

27. With the exception of the accounting guidelines 
and procedures, the draft policies and procedures in 
respect of strategic deployment stocks had still not 
been promulgated. Moreover, the receiving and 
inspection process was not always performed in a 
timely manner. 

28. The lack of a formal definition of an integrated 
mission had resulted in a lack of understanding of the 
functions and structures of such missions and of the 
collective responsibilities of key actors. It appeared 
that the integrated mission concept and its impact had 
not always been discussed with all those concerned at 
the country level. 

29. Standard operating procedures with regard to 
rations management had not been implemented at 
newly established missions, and packaging, storage and 
temperature control deficiencies had again been noted 
at seven missions. At the United Nations Mission for 
the Referendum in Western Sahara (MINURSO) and 
the United Nations Mission of Support in East Timor 
(UNMISET), rations had been procured without valid 
rations contracts. 



 A/C.5/60/SR.51

 

5 06-35555 
 

30. Leave management in five missions required 
enhancement. Also, the Department of Peacekeeping 
Operations should comply with the General 
Assembly’s request to end the practice of hiring 
individuals as contractors on a continuous basis for 
tasks regarded as core functions. 

31. Resident auditors continued to be a valuable 
internal oversight mechanism within peacekeeping 
operations. However, resident auditors’ deployment 
had been based mostly on expenditure levels, while 
factors such as risk and complexity of operations had 
not been fully considered. 

32. The Administration had reported to the Board 30 
cases of fraud and presumptive fraud as at 30 June 
2005, compared with 6 cases in the previous financial 
year. Of those 30 cases, 25 had occurred within the 
United Nations Mission in Sierra Leone (UNAMSIL), 
and 19 had related to fuel fraud. The losses relating to 
the 19 fuel fraud cases, where quantified, were 
estimated at $1.5 million. The Board was concerned 
that problems such as fuel mismanagement might be 
more pervasive across the various peacekeeping 
missions. 

33. The Board had noted that 45 per cent of its 
previous recommendations were under implementation, 
compared with 48 per cent at the end of the previous 
financial year. Its main recommendations were 
contained in paragraph 13 of its report. 

34. Mr. Childerley (Chief of the Oversight Support 
Unit in the Office of the Under-Secretary-General for 
Management), introducing the report of the 
Secretary-General on the implementation of the 
recommendations of the Board of Auditors concerning 
United Nations peacekeeping operations for the 
financial period ended 30 June 2005 (A/60/691), said 
that, as in the previous financial year, the 
Administration had made every effort to provide full 
and complete information to the Board for inclusion in 
its report. Consequently, in most cases, the Board’s 
report adequately reflected the position of the 
Administration on each recommendation, and it had 
proved necessary to provide further comments on only 
22 of the Board’s 72 recommendations. 

35. As well as commenting on specific 
recommendations, the report before the Committee also 
responded to paragraph 11 of General Assembly 
resolution 60/234, in which requested the 
Secretary-General was requested to include 

information, in future reports, on the setting of time 
frames, the identification of office-holders and 
priorities for implementation. An additional section had 
therefore been added to the report, providing summary 
information on those items. 

36. The implementation of all Board 
recommendations would be given high priority, but 
special attention would be given to the 20 main 
recommendations highlighted by the Board. The new 
section contained a summary analysis indicating the 
departments responsible for their implementation, the 
relevant time frames and the status of implementation 
as at February 2006. 

37. Mr. Abraszewski (Vice-Chairman of the 
Advisory Committee on Administrative and Budgetary 
Questions), introducing the related report of ACABQ 
(A/60/784), said that a number of reviews involving 
peacekeeping operations had been planned or under 
way during the Board’s audit, whether by OIOS, the 
Joint Inspection Unit or external consultants. 
Therefore, in order to avoid duplication of effort, the 
Board had limited its coverage of related subjects to 
following up on the status of implementation of its 
previous recommendations in those areas. Furthermore, 
in rendering its unqualified audit opinion, the Board 
had drawn attention to the review of procurement 
activities being undertaken by OIOS and to the internal 
controls review outsourced by the Administration and 
had stated that it was aware of the forensic audit 
commissioned by the Administration to expand on 
those reviews. 

38. The Advisory Committee commended the Board 
for its clear and reader-friendly report and welcomed in 
particular the inclusion of details concerning the age of 
recommendations that were either under 
implementation or had not been implemented. 

39. The Board had noted that cases of ex post facto 
approval of contracts had more than tripled, from 30 in 
2003 to 97 in 2004. Those were cases in which the 
administrative head of mission had made procurement 
awards in excess of the delegated procurement 
authority of $200,000 without prior presentation to the 
Procurement Service at Headquarters. The Advisory 
Committee urged the Administration to take a fresh 
look at the entire process, including the issue of 
delegation of authority, giving due account to the need 
for strong accountability measures. 



A/C.5/60/SR.51  
 

06-35555 6 
 

40. The Advisory Committee welcomed the Board’s 
thorough reporting on air operations, which it would 
discuss in greater detail in its general report on 
peacekeeping operations. It had highlighted the need 
for the Department of Peacekeeping Operations to 
undertake an analysis of the new costing structure for 
air operations contracts to determine whether it had 
resulted in savings or brought other benefits. 

41. The Board had recommended that the Department 
of Peacekeeping Operations, in collaboration with the 
relevant peacekeeping missions, should develop and 
implement regional coordination plans aligned to the 
missions’ objectives. In that connection, the Advisory 
Committee recommended that the Department should 
continue to explore ways to increase regional 
management of air assets and that it should coordinate 
with the Department of Political Affairs with a view to 
the sharing of assets between peacekeeping operations 
and special political missions. 

42. The Advisory Committee continued to believe 
that an analysis of the support account should be 
carried out, as described in its previous general report, 
and that the Board was an appropriate entity to 
undertake that task. Such an analysis would include an 
examination of how fluctuations in the level of 
peacekeeping activities affected the level of required 
backstopping, a study of which factors determined the 
level of required backstopping and a delineation of 
functions, identifying which must be performed at 
Headquarters and which could be carried out in the 
field. Accordingly, in its report on the support account 
(A/60/807), the Advisory Committee requested the 
Board to undertake further analysis of management and 
post and non-post resource issues relating to the 
support account. 

43. Mr. Drofenik (Austria), speaking on behalf of 
the European Union; the acceding countries Bulgaria 
and Romania; the candidate countries Croatia, the 
former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia and Turkey; 
the stabilization and association process countries 
Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina, and Serbia and 
Montenegro; and, in addition, Iceland, Liechtenstein, 
Norway, the Republic of Moldova and Ukraine, said 
that the European Union commended the Board of 
Auditors for having further improved the structure of 
its report and supported the recommendations 
contained therein. It appreciated the list of previous 
Board recommendations and details on the age of the 
recommendations provided in the report. It noted with 

concern, however, that 40 of the earlier 
recommendations had not yet been implemented and 
called on the Secretariat to remedy the situation. In that 
context, it joined the Advisory Committee in 
requesting a more stringent approach to the question of 
responsibilities and the time frame for implementation 
of recommendations of the Board of Auditors. 

44. The European Union was alarmed about the level 
of outstanding assessed contributions, which had 
amounted to $1.7 billion for 2004/05, an increase of 
9 per cent over the previous period. Non-payment of 
assessments had a negative impact on cash flows and 
encouraged cross-borrowing. All Member States must 
pay their assessed contributions in full and on time so 
that peacekeeping operations could fully carry out their 
mandates.  

45. The European Union emphasized the need to 
establish effective procurement policies and ensure that 
the right tools were in place for the system to operate 
efficiently. The Department of Peacekeeping 
Operations required comprehensive rules and 
regulations, better internal control mechanisms, an 
effective vendor review procedure and performance 
bonds, a cadre of trained and professional staff, and a 
comprehensive and up-to-date information technology 
system to ensure a harmonized approach in the 
procurement process. 

46. The European Union shared the Board’s concern 
about the apparent trend of over budgeting for air 
transportation costs. It welcomed the establishment by 
the Department of Peacekeeping Operations of a 
costing structure for all air carrier contracts but noted 
that no cost-benefit analysis of the new system had 
been conducted. It was mindful of the fact that the 
Secretary-General’s overview report on the financing 
of the United Nations peacekeeping operations 
(A/60/696) contained a proposal for undertaking such a 
review and regretted that the report would not be 
considered at the resumed session. Given that air 
services accounted for about 20 per cent of the overall 
peacekeeping budget, the European Union supported 
the recommendations of the Board and the Advisory 
Committee that the Department should undertake such 
a cost-benefit evaluation as soon as possible. 

47. The European Union supported the concept of 
regional cooperation between United Nations 
operations in the field, which could result in substantial 
efficiency gains. It concurred with the Advisory 



 A/C.5/60/SR.51

 

7 06-35555 
 

Committee that such cooperation needed to take place 
on the basis of an appropriate plan and should not rely 
on ad hoc arrangements. It also supported the 
recommendation of the Board of Auditors that the 
concept of integrated mission partnerships should be 
formalized and further developed. 

48. The European Union noted with concern that 
reports of cases of fraud had increased significantly 
and requested the Secretary-General to conduct a 
thorough investigation and hold accountable those 
responsible for fraudulent activity, while making every 
effort to recover misappropriated funds.  

49. Mr. Tarrisse da Fontoura (Brazil), speaking on 
behalf of the Rio Group, commended the Board of 
Auditors on its clear report and welcomed the inclusion 
of details concerning the age of recommendations that 
were either in the process of being implemented or had 
not yet been implemented.  

50. His delegation agreed fully with the Board of 
Auditors that the Secretariat must take further action to 
improve procurement opportunities for vendors from 
developing countries, so as to guarantee a more 
equitable geographical distribution of procurement 
contracts. It expected detailed proposals to be made in 
that regard in the context of management reform, as 
requested in General Assembly resolution 60/260, and 
it was disappointed that the Advisory Committee had 
not made any concrete recommendation on the matter.  

51. In future reports of the Board of Auditors, in 
tables indicating the geographical distribution of 
mission operational expenditure and contracts, the 
category “the Americas” should be further broken 
down into North America and Latin America.  

52. With regard to air operations, his delegation 
welcomed the Board’s recommendation that the 
Department of Peacekeeping Operations should 
implement measures to ensure that technical 
compliance and inspection/performance evaluations 
were performed at all missions to verify carriers’ 
compliance with aviation and safety requirements. It 
would also be important to maintain a database of all 
aviation inspection/performance reports. In that 
connection, his delegation was concerned to note that 
understaffing was impeding the Air Transport Unit’s 
ability to conduct those inspections. 

53. In the area of vehicle fleet management, his 
delegation concurred with the Board that the 

Secretariat should reinforce the implementation of the 
rotation policy at peacekeeping operations where 
vehicles within the same categories were rotated to 
optimize efficiency and utility. 

54. There was a need to strengthen accountability in 
the Organization for the effective implementation of 
legislative mandates. Accountability of the Secretariat 
to all Member States was a fundamental part of 
management reform. His delegation therefore 
encouraged the Secretary-General to propose clear 
parameters for its application and instruments for its 
enforcement, without exception, at all levels. Lastly, 
his delegation reiterated its strong support to all 
peacekeeping operations and all peacekeeping 
personnel. 
 

Agenda item 136: Administrative and budgetary 
aspects of the financing of the United Nations 
peacekeeping operations (continued) (A/60/681 and 
Corr.1 and Add.1, A/60/682, A/60/696, A/60/699, 
A/60/700, A/60/711, A/60/713, A/60/715, A/60/717, 
A/60/720 and Add.1, A/60/727, A/60/787, A/60/807 and 
A/60/856) 
 

55. Mr. Sach (Controller) said that, in the past 12 
months, the scope, dynamic nature and volatility of 
peacekeeping activities had remained a challenge to the 
Organization in deploying and managing 15 
peacekeeping operations and 16 political and 
peacebuilding missions. The completion of the 
mandates of UNMISET and UNAMSIL in May 2005 
and December 2005, respectively, had provided little 
respite for the Secretariat as it had moved ahead with 
administrative and logistical backstopping in 
preparation for the full deployment of military and 
civilian personnel in the United Nations Mission in the 
Sudan (UNMIS) and the expansion of military and 
civilian personnel in the United Nations Operation in 
Côte d’Ivoire (UNOCI) and the United Nations 
Organization Mission in the Democratic Republic of 
the Congo (MONUC). 

56. In June 2005, the Security Council had authorized 
increases in the strength of military and police 
personnel for MINUSTAH and UNOCI, resulting in the 
submission of revised budgets for the 2005/06 period 
at the main part of the sixtieth session. In addition, as a 
result of the Security Council’s decision in September 
2005 to increase the authorized strength of military and 
police personnel in MONUC, the Mission’s full budget 
for 2005/06 had also been submitted at the main part of 



A/C.5/60/SR.51  
 

06-35555 8 
 

the sixtieth session, as had the budget for UNMIS up to 
30 June 2006. 

57. With the recent completion of all budgets for the 
period from 1 July 2006 to 30 June 2007, the total 
peacekeeping budget for 2006/07, including the 
resources for the support account and the United 
Nations Logistics Base (UNLB) at Brindisi, was 
estimated at $4.8 billion. That figure, which reflected 
full deployment of military and police personnel in 
UNMIS and of the authorized increases in military and 
police personnel in MONUC and UNOCI, represented 
a decrease of $256.4 million, or 5.1 per cent, compared 
with the total peacekeeping budget of $5 billion 
approved for 2005/06. The decrease was primarily 
attributable to the request for commitment authority for 
the United Nations Operation in Burundi (ONUB) in 
the amount of $79.2 million for the period from 1 July 
to 31 October 2006. In that regard, the Secretariat had 
originally planned to submit the full 2006/07 budget 
for ONUB in line with the normal submission cycle. 
However, pending a decision by the Security Council 
on the Secretary-General’s proposals in his sixth report 
on the United Nations Operation in Burundi 
(S/2006/163), including the planned withdrawal of 
ONUB by 31 December 2006, the Secretariat had felt it 
prudent to request interim financing under commitment 
authority for the four-month period just indicated. The 
Secretary-General intended to submit the full 2006/07 
budget for ONUB, currently estimated at 
approximately $100 million at the main part of the 
sixty-first session. 

58. The overall decrease between 2005/06 and 
2006/07 was also attributable to the closure of 
UNAMSIL and UNMISET, the continued downsizing 
of the United Nations Interim Administration Mission 
in Kosovo (UNMIK) and slight reductions in the 
resource requirements for 11 other missions, as well as 
for the support account and UNLB.  

59. He underscored that the decrease might be 
temporary, taking into account current developments in 
some missions, which might result in additional 
resource requirements for 2006/07. For example, the 
recent Security Council decision regarding planning 
for the possible expansion of UNMIS into Darfur 
would have substantial resource implications. In 
addition, if the Council approved the Secretary-
General’s proposals on the troop strength of UNOCI, 
additional resources would probably be required. That 
would be reflected in a revised budget for UNOCI, 

which would be submitted to the General Assembly at 
the main part of its sixty-first session. 

60. The resource requirements for MONUC had been 
based on the assumption that the presidential and 
legislative elections would be held by 30 June 2006. In 
connection with the delay in holding the elections and 
pending the determination of the full resource 
requirements of the Mission arising from the continued 
provision of support to the elections, as well as of the 
degree to which those requirements could be 
accommodated through temporary arrangements with 
other peacekeeping operations, it was the Secretary-
General’s intention to absorb them, to the fullest extent 
possible, within the proposed 2006/07 budget for 
MONUC. The related expenditures would be reported 
to the General Assembly in the context of the Mission’s 
2006/07 performance report.  

61. Lastly, the situation with respect to the United 
Nations Mission in Ethiopia and Eritrea (UNMEE) and 
MINUSTAH remained uncertain. The Security 
Council’s forthcoming decision on the options for the 
future of UNMEE, including its possible 
transformation into an observer mission, might require 
the submission of a revised budget lower than the 
current estimates for 2006/07. The Secretary-General 
was expected to submit his proposals on the role and 
structure of MINUSTAH in the post-electoral 
environment in Haiti well in advance of the expiration 
of the Mission’s current mandate on 15 August 2006. 
The Secretary-General’s recommendations and the 
Security Council’s related decision might require the 
submission of a revised 2006/07 budget for 
MINUSTAH at the main part of the sixty-first session. 
While it was difficult at the current stage to ascertain 
the final resource requirements for peacekeeping for 
2006/07, the total level might equal, if not exceed, the 
$5 billion budget for 2005/06. 

62. In response to concerns raised about the apparent 
late submission of the performance reports for 2004/05 
and budgets for 2006/07, he said that a total of 34 
financing reports had been scheduled for submission 
for 13 active missions, 3 closed missions, the support 
account and UNLB. By the end of January 2006, 21 
reports, 62 per cent of the total, had been submitted to 
the Department for General Assembly and Conference 
Management. By the end of March 2006, all remaining 
reports had been submitted, with the exception of the 
2006/07 budgets for UNOCI and MONUC, which had 
been submitted in mid-April and early May, 



 A/C.5/60/SR.51

 

9 06-35555 
 

respectively. It should be noted that, while the 2005/06 
budgets for MINUSTAH and UNMIS had not been 
approved until December 2005, the Secretariat had 
managed to submit the full 2006/07 budgets for those 
missions in the second half of March 2006. 
Unfortunately, that goal had not been met in the case of 
the budgets for UNOCI and MONUC because of the 
need for extensive substantive and technical 
consultations. 

63. The Secretary-General’s overview report on the 
financing of the United Nations peacekeeping 
operations (A/60/696) provided information on the 
implementation of requests contained in General 
Assembly resolution 59/296 and in the report of 
ACABQ on the administrative and budgetary aspects 
of the financing of the United Nations peacekeeping 
operations (A/59/736). In addition, it outlined 
management initiatives proposed by the Department of 
Peacekeeping Operations for 2006/07. In an effort to 
streamline legislative reporting, the overview report 
included a section on the status of the Peacekeeping 
Reserve Fund. The actions to be taken by the General 
Assembly were presented in paragraph 152 of the 
report. 

64. With respect to budget performance for the period 
from 1 July 2004 to 30 June 2005, total resources for 
peacekeeping for 2004/05 had amounted to 
$4.4 billion, inclusive of the support account and 
UNLB. Related expenditures had amounted to 
$4.1 billion, resulting in an unencumbered balance of 
$0.3 billion — equivalent to 6.2 per cent of the total 
appropriation — and an overall budget implementation 
rate of 94 per cent, slightly lower than the overall 
implementation rate of 95 per cent for the financial 
period from 1 July 2003 to 30 June 2004. Detailed 
information on the factors that had affected budget 
performance were provided in section III of the 
Secretary-General’s overview report (A/60/696). 

65. The performance reports for 2004/05 reflected 
continuing efforts by the Secretariat to make the 
results-based frameworks more concrete, streamlined 
and reader-friendly by applying standard criteria to the 
performance information provided. Such criteria 
included a justification and planned completion date, if 
actual indicators of achievement and outputs had fallen 
significantly short compared with the plan; an element 
of measurability, where that was not already provided 
in the baselines established as part of the 2004/05 
budget; and information on significant unplanned 

actual indicators of achievement and outputs. The 
performance reports also reflected the Secretariat’s 
efforts to enable Member States to make fully informed 
decisions on peacekeeping missions by providing clear, 
measurable information on results and on the missions’ 
contributions to those results. 

66. In the light of the provisions of General 
Assembly resolution 60/255, section III, concerning 
liabilities and funding for after-service health insurance 
benefits, the proposals for action to be taken by the 
General Assembly contained in the 2004/05 
performance reports required modification. 
Accordingly, the draft resolutions to be considered by 
the Committee in informal consultations would reflect 
the full return to Member States of the unencumbered 
balances and other income, as recommended by the 
Advisory Committee in its various reports. As to the 
budget estimates for 2006/07, the corresponding draft 
resolutions would reflect the exclusion from the 
amounts to be appropriated of a related provision 
included under common staff costs and equivalent to 
4 per cent of total net salaries; those amounts had not 
been taken into account in the recommendations of the 
Advisory Committee in its reports issued to date. 

67. With respect to the performance report on the 
budget of the support account for peacekeeping for the 
period from 1 July 2004 to 30 June 2005 (A/60/681 
and Corr.1 and Add.1), against an approved budget of 
$121.6 million, expenditures had amounted to 
$118 million, leaving an unencumbered balance of 
$3.6 million, equivalent to 2.9 per cent of the resources 
approved. It was recommended that the General 
Assembly should apply the unencumbered balance of 
$3.6 million and other income for the period ended 
30 June 2005 amounting to $2.1 million to the support 
account requirements for the period from 1 July 2006 
to 30 June 2007. 

68. The budget for the support account for 
peacekeeping operations for the period from 1 July 
2006 to 30 June 2007 (A/60/727) amounted to 
$189.5 million, representing an increase of 
$42.6 million, or 29 per cent, over the resources 
approved for 2005/06. The General Assembly was 
requested to approve the support account estimate for 
2006/07; to apply the unencumbered balance and other 
income for the period ended 30 June 2005 in the total 
amount of $5.7 million and, in addition, the amount of 
$15.8 million, representing the excess in the authorized 
level of the Peacekeeping Reserve Fund for the period 



A/C.5/60/SR.51  
 

06-35555 10 
 

ended 30 June 2005, to the resources required for the 
support account for 2006/07; and to prorate the amount 
of $168 million among the individual active 
peacekeeping operation budgets to meet the support 
account requirements for 2006/07.  

69. With respect to the performance report on the 
budget of UNLB for the period from 1 July 2004 to 
30 June 2005 and implementation of the strategic 
deployment stocks, including the award of contracts 
for procurement (A/60/700), against an approved 
budget of $28.4 million, reported expenditures had 
amounted to $28.2 million, leaving an unencumbered 
balance of $0.2 million, equivalent to 0.8 per cent of 
the resources approved. The General Assembly was 
requested to apply the unencumbered balance and other 
income for the period ended 30 June 2005 in the total 
amount of $1.4 million to the resources required for the 
Logistics Base for the period from 1 July 2006 to 
30 June 2007. 

70. The budget for UNLB for the period from 1 July 
2006 to 30 June 2007 (A/60/711) amounted to 
$35.6 million, representing an increase of $4.1 million, 
or 13 per cent, over the previous period. The General 
Assembly was requested to approve the estimate for 
the maintenance of the Logistics Base for 2006/07; to 
apply the unencumbered balance and other income for 
the period ended 30 June 2005 in the total amount of 
$1.4 million to the resources required for the Logistics 
Base for 2006/07; and to prorate the amount of 
$34.2 million among the individual active 
peacekeeping operation budgets to meet the Base’s 
requirements for 2006/07. 

71. Mr. Kerley (Department of Peacekeeping 
Operations) introducing the report of the Secretary-
General on the use of the United Nations Logistics 
Base to provide efficient and economical 
communications and information technology services, 
as well as other services, for United Nations 
peacekeeping and Headquarters clients (A/60/715), 
said that the report provided information on the 
functions proposed for establishment at UNLB during 
fiscal year 2006/07, which had been included in the 
cost estimates for the Logistics Base. A Regional 
Aviation Safety Office was to be established to monitor 
closely and oversee safety issues for aircraft deployed 
in peacekeeping missions, particularly the missions in 
Georgia and Kosovo. The establishment of the Office 
would result in net cost savings of some $200,000 as a 
result of the abolition of posts in those missions. In 

addition, a Training Delivery Cell was to be created to 
assist with the delivery of training to Headquarters and 
peacekeeping missions as part of the integrated training 
service. That would require a net increase of three 
additional professional posts. The report also contained 
details of other functions under consideration for 
subsequent movement to UNLB. In that context, it was 
proposed to establish a Strategic Operations Centre, an 
Aviation Quality Assurance Programme, a Central 
Design Unit, a Geographical Information System and a 
secondary active communications facility. 

72. The report of the Secretary-General on the cost-
benefit analysis on the issue of the transfer of vehicles 
with high mileage to the United Nations Logistics Base 
at Brindisi, Italy, to other missions and to upcoming 
United Nations peacekeeping operations (A/60/699) 
included information on the current practices followed 
by the Department of Peacekeeping Operations in that 
regard. It covered instances where used light 4x4 
vehicles had been transferred from UNMIK to the 
United Nations Operation in Côte d’Ivoire and from 
the United Nations Verification Mission in Guatemala 
(MINUGUA) to MINUSTAH. The transfers had been 
intended to meet the immediate operational needs of 
the new peacekeeping missions and had been deemed 
cost-effective, as the vehicles had some residual life. 
They had occurred at a time when the strategic 
deployment stocks had been depleted and the local 
rental markets in both mission areas had been limited 
and expensive. The Department of Peacekeeping 
Operations would continue to review the transfer of 
high-mileage vehicles on a case-by-case basis, bearing 
in mind operational needs and other appropriate 
factors. 

73. Mr. Abraszewski (Vice-Chairman of the 
Advisory Committee on Administrative and Budgetary 
Questions) introduced the related reports of ACABQ 
(A/60/787 and A/60/807). The Advisory Committee 
recommended a reduction of $31.7 million in the level 
of the proposed budget for the support account for the 
period from 1 July 2006 to 30 June 2007 (A/60/807). 
The Advisory Committee had consistently stated that 
all support account posts needed to be justified and that 
a purely incremental approach was not appropriate, 
given the evolving nature of peacekeeping missions. 
The requirement for additional functions or tasks to be 
performed should not necessarily lead to a requirement 
for additional posts, nor should the creation of new 
units be proposed as a means of justifying new or 



 A/C.5/60/SR.51

 

11 06-35555 
 

higher-level posts. Furthermore, the support account 
should not be used as a vehicle to propose the 
establishment of posts that should more properly be 
proposed under the regular budget. Before additional 
resources were requested, management processes 
should be reviewed in order to identify what efficiency 
gains had been achieved and what further gains were 
possible through streamlining and improved methods. 
In paragraph 9, the Advisory Committee had repeated 
its request to the Board of Auditors to conduct an 
analysis of the evolution of the support account. That 
request was in accordance with the Financial 
Regulations and Rules of the United Nations. 

74. Paragraphs 40 to 119 contained detailed 
recommendations on the post and non-post resource 
requirements for the support account. Of the 142 net 
additional posts requested, the Advisory Committee 
recommended approval of 55. It further recommended 
that action on 42 posts should be deferred. Of those 
posts, 22 would be considered in the context of 
subsequent reports of the Secretary-General on reform 
and 20 in the light of the analysis and proposals 
referred to in paragraph 114 of the Advisory 
Committee’s report. Lastly, the Advisory Committee 
recommended deferring final decisions on some of the 
Secretary-General’s proposals pending consideration of 
reports related to the follow-up to the 2005 World 
Summit Outcome. 

75. Concerning the Logistics Base at Brindisi 
(A/60/787), the Advisory Committee recommended 
acceptance of the proposed budget for the period from 
1 July 2006 to 30 June 2007. It noted the progress that 
had been made in the presentation of the performance 
data of the Base against the planned results set out in 
the 2004/05 budget and in filling the additional posts 
authorized by the General Assembly for the current 
period. It had taken note of the comments made by the 
Board of Auditors concerning the receiving and 
inspection process at Brindisi and trusted that the next 
budget submission for the Base would contain 
information on measures taken to address the Board’s 
findings, as well as on further efforts to improve asset 
management. The Advisory Committee’s report on 
UNLB also contained its comments on two related 
submissions: the report of the Secretary-General on the 
use of the United Nations Logistics Base to provide 
efficient and economical communications and 
information technology services, as well as other 
services, for United Nations peacekeeping and 

Headquarters clients (A/60/715) and the report of the 
Secretary-General on the cost-benefit analysis on the 
issue of the transfer of vehicles with high mileage to 
the United Nations Logistics Base at Brindisi, Italy, to 
other missions and to upcoming United Nations 
peacekeeping operations (A/60/699). 

76. Ms. Ahlenius (Under-Secretary-General for 
Internal Oversight Services) introduced four reports of 
the Office of Internal Oversight Services (OIOS), 
contained in documents A/60/682, A/60/713, A/60/717 
and A/60/720. The report of OIOS on the 
comprehensive management audit of the Department of 
Peacekeeping Operations (A/60/717) was based on the 
results of audits of seven key areas: procurement, 
financial management and budgeting, human resources 
management, information and communication 
technology, mission planning, substantive operations, 
and best practices. 

77. The Department of Peacekeeping Operations had 
made progress in recent years in improving the 
management of peacekeeping operations. However, 
those achievements had not kept pace with the 
challenges resulting from the rapid increase in field 
activities. Also, there had not been adequate emphasis 
on establishing a high level of ethical behaviour and 
accountability. In that connection, OIOS stressed the 
importance of the Charter of the United Nations, which 
referred explicitly to the necessity of securing the 
highest standards of efficiency, competence and 
integrity, and the responsibility of management for 
internal control in an organization. Internal control in 
the Department of Peacekeeping Operations needed 
significant improvement, particularly in procurement, 
where there had been a number of cases indicating 
systematic breaches of United Nations regulations and 
rules. One of the root causes of that situation was the 
reluctance of management to hold staff members 
accountable. That had led to an unacceptably high 
exposure to the risk of fraud and abuse. Appropriate 
mechanisms should be established without delay to 
ensure managerial accountability at all levels, both at 
Headquarters and in field missions. It was encouraging 
to note that management had already taken steps to 
address the specific cases highlighted in the report. 

78. OIOS had identified considerable scope for 
improving the management of peacekeeping operations 
by reorganizing the budget process for improved 
efficiency and elimination of duplication; delegating 
recruitment authority to field missions, subject to 



A/C.5/60/SR.51  
 

06-35555 12 
 

effective monitoring at Headquarters; optimizing the 
use of information and communication technology; 
strengthening the capacity for mission planning and the 
provision of strategic guidance and direction; 
improving coordination between the Department of 
Peacekeeping Operations and other United Nations 
departments and agencies; and placing greater 
emphasis on the identification and dissemination of 
best practices from positive and negative lessons 
learned. 

79. OIOS had made 158 recommendations in the 
seven audit reports, including 105 considered to be 
critical. Of those recommendations, 133 had been 
accepted. OIOS had reiterated 25 unaccepted 
recommendations for reconsideration by the 
departments concerned. She was pleased to report that 
most of the accepted recommendations were in the 
process of being implemented; OIOS would continue 
to monitor on a regular basis the progress made in that 
regard. 

80. In order to rationalize and consolidate the 
submission of reports for consideration by the General 
Assembly, OIOS proposed that the annual report on its 
activities related to peacekeeping operations should be 
issued as a separate document. That would enable it to 
prepare a comprehensive annual report for 
consideration by the General Assembly at its resumed 
session, when peacekeeping matters were normally 
taken up. If the proposal was accepted, the first such 
report would be submitted to the Assembly at its 
resumed sixty-first session. 

81. In preparing its report on the audit of the standard 
costs applied to Headquarters overhead (A/60/682), 
OIOS had reviewed cost estimates for facilities and 
infrastructure, communications and information 
technology included in the budget for the support 
account for peacekeeping operations for the period 
from 1 July 2005 to 30 June 2006. Cost categories for 
which standard costs were not applicable had not been 
reviewed. OIOS had found that budget estimates were 
generally based on standard cost guidelines. However, 
the Department of Management had not established a 
policy for maintaining and updating those guidelines, 
and the guidelines were not consistently applied. 
Furthermore, the guidelines for estimating standard 
costs needed to be realigned with the corresponding 
actual costs incurred. The adjustments recommended 
by OIOS would have generated net savings of 
$970,000 in the budget estimates for the support 

account for 2005/06. The Department of Management 
had generally concurred with the 13 recommendations 
issued by OIOS and had undertaken to implement them 
by reviewing and updating the standard costs in the 
context of preparing the support account budget for 
2006/07. 

82. The major objective of the global review of 
discipline in field missions led by the Department of 
Peacekeeping Operations (A/60/713) had been to assist 
the Department’s senior management in determining a 
course of action to strengthen the Organization’s 
standards of conduct and ensure full compliance with 
them. The review had been conducted over a two-
month period simultaneously in 18 missions and in the 
Logistics Base at Brindisi. It had showed that there was 
a need to establish a clear link between the 
Organization’s standards of conduct, its core values 
and competencies and the Charter of the United 
Nations, particularly Article 101. 

83. Overall, the shortcomings identified in the report 
could be attributed to a number of inadequacies in 
Headquarters and field mission leadership. The 
Department of Peacekeeping Operations and the Office 
of Human Resources Management had failed to 
provide clear policies and procedures on discipline and 
guidelines for their implementation. Moreover, there 
was no dedicated, full-time capacity, either at 
Headquarters or in the field, for monitoring the state of 
discipline and coordinating efforts to address conduct 
and discipline issues. 

84. OIOS had issued 28 recommendations calling, 
inter alia, for more detailed policies and guidelines on 
discipline; closer monitoring by and greater 
accountability for managers; more consistent and fairer 
application of disciplinary mechanisms across all 
categories and levels of peacekeeping personnel; 
proper recording and maintenance of data on 
misconduct; better coordination between Headquarters 
and field missions and between mission components in 
tackling misconduct; strengthened capacity in the 
Department of Peacekeeping Operations and field 
missions for monitoring and handling discipline issues; 
and a comprehensive misconduct prevention 
programme, including comprehensive risk assessment, 
better training, improved welfare and recreation 
facilities, and greater transparency in reporting 
misconduct. She noted with satisfaction that the 
Department of Peacekeeping Operations and the Office 
of Human Resources Management had already begun 



 A/C.5/60/SR.51

 

13 06-35555 
 

to implement most of those recommendations and were 
working with OIOS to develop training programmes, 
including modules on the code of conduct, the 
prevention of sexual exploitation and abuse, and 
investigative techniques. 

85. The report of OIOS on the investigation 
conducted by the Investigations Task Force into fraud 
and corruption allegations at Pristina Airport 
(A/60/720) was a consolidated follow-up to the 33 
investigation reports issued by the Task Force during 
the period from August 2004 to June 2005. The Task 
Force had been established in November 2003 to 
identify fraud and corruption in the United Nations 
Interim Administration Mission in Kosovo (UNMIK) 
and in publicly owned enterprises in Kosovo. It was a 
partnership between OIOS, the Financial Investigations 
Unit of UNMIK and the Anti-fraud Office (OLAF) of 
the European Commission. 

86. The Special Representative of the Secretary-
General, in his response to the final draft of the report, 
had stated that it was outside the jurisdiction of OIOS 
to report to the General Assembly on the results of 
Task Force investigations. He had not addressed the 
recommendations contained in the report, since he did 
not accept that OIOS had the right to direct those 
recommendations to him. UNMIK, however, had 
responded to all 11 recommendations made by OIOS 
and, as a result of the investigations, two airport 
employees had been dismissed and five more had been 
given warnings. OIOS looked forward to following up 
on the implementation of the recommendations and it 
would report thereon to the General Assembly in its 
annual report. 

87. Mr. Cooper (Officer-in-Charge of the 
Administrative Support Division in the Department of 
Peacekeeping Operations) introduced the note by the 
Secretary-General containing his comments on the 
report of OIOS on the investigation conducted by the 
Investigations Task Force into fraud and corruption 
allegations at Pristina Airport (A/60/720/Add.1). The 
Secretariat had taken the exceptional step of preparing 
the note so as to ensure that the Committee was fully 
informed about the structural and management reforms 
undertaken by UNMIK since 2003 to address issues of 
governance, fraud and corruption in publicly owned 
enterprises in Kosovo, including Pristina Airport. That 
information had been provided to OIOS, which had 
chosen not to include it in its final report. Over the past 
three years, most of the concerns originally raised by 

OIOS had been addressed. Eight of the 11 
recommendations made had been implemented. 
Substantial progress had been made in implementing 
another of the recommendations, while implementation 
of one was not considered feasible. The final 
recommendation, concerning the submission of the 
OIOS report to the Security Council, had not been 
accepted, since consideration of the report was quite 
properly a matter for the General Assembly. He trusted 
that the note would give Member States a measure of 
confidence that the reforms implemented since 2003 
had significantly reduced the opportunities for fraud 
and corruption in Kosovo’s publicly owned enterprises. 

88. Mr. Drofenik (Austria), speaking on behalf of 
the European Union, the acceding countries Bulgaria 
and Romania; the candidate countries Croatia and 
Turkey; the stabilization and association process 
countries Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina, and Serbia 
and Montenegro; and, in addition, Liechtenstein, the 
Republic of Moldova and Ukraine, said that, while the 
30 per cent increase proposed for the support account 
budget for 2006/07 reflected an upsurge in 
peacekeeping activities, an analysis should be 
conducted to determine the level of Headquarters 
backstopping actually required, no such study having 
taken place since the establishment of the support 
account in 1991. The European Union also wished to 
reiterate its request for a complete report on the review 
of the management structure of all peacekeeping 
operations. 

89. The European Union understood the rationale for 
the Advisory Committee’s recommendation that final 
decisions on certain proposals for the support account 
should be deferred pending consideration of reports on 
such issues as procurement, audit and oversight, to be 
introduced later in the session. However, it reserved the 
right to revert to those very relevant resource requests. 
While it was aware that the substantial increase in 
resources for non-post requirements was due in part to 
the transfer of resources from mission budgets to the 
support account, it wished to receive more detailed 
justification of the resources requested. It welcomed 
the establishment of the new Integrated Training 
Service and of posts for a permanent capacity at 
Headquarters to address conduct and discipline issues, 
as well as the increased capacity proposed for the 
Peacekeeping Best Practices Section and the Police 
Division. 



A/C.5/60/SR.51  
 

06-35555 14 
 

90. The European Union endorsed the Advisory 
Committee’s recommendations on the budget proposal 
for UNLB and the proposed establishment of a training 
delivery cell and a regional aviation safety office at the 
Logistics Base. It noted with interest the 
Secretary-General’s proposals for the Base for 2007/08 
and concurred with the Advisory Committee that full 
justification and a detailed cost-benefit analysis should 
be given prior to the establishment of any new 
organizational structures. 

91. The observations and recommendations made by 
OIOS in its important and thought-provoking report on 
the comprehensive management audit of the 
Department of Peacekeeping Operations (A/60/717) 
merited careful attention. Lastly, the European Union 
was concerned about the OIOS findings with respect to 
Pristina Airport. The Secretariat should identify the 
lessons learned and apply them to current and future 
operations. 

92. Mr. Kozaki (Japan) said that he would make a 
single statement on agenda items 121 and 136. The 
proposed budgets for United Nations peacekeeping 
operations for 2006/07 amounted to nearly $5 billion. 
It was important to scrutinize those budgets to ensure 
that the resources requested were fully justified and 
that the operations were managed in an efficient, 
effective and accountable manner. In that connection, 
his Government was concerned about reported cases of 
fraud and presumptive fraud. Indeed, it would find it 
difficult to support the peacekeeping budgets unless it 
was convinced that all necessary measures were being 
taken to prevent similar cases from occurring in the 
future and that management practices in the Secretariat 
were being improved, including by placing greater 
emphasis on accountability. That was in line with its 
responsibility to its taxpayers to ensure that Japan’s 
contributions were used in strict compliance with 
financial regulations and rules. 

93. Careful consideration should be given to thematic 
management issues before individual mission budgets 
were approved. While his delegation welcomed the 
Secretary-General’s overview report on the financing 
of the United Nations peacekeeping operations 
(A/60/696), it was keen to hear the Advisory 
Committee’s views on those issues. The 
implementation of the guidance and recommendations 
contained in the resolutions of the General Assembly 
and the reports of ACABQ and the Board of Auditors 
should also be carefully analysed. The budget 

submissions themselves must be based on a realistic 
assessment of requirements and reflect opportunities 
for efficiency gains. 

94. The overview report contained a number of 
proposals with policy and financial implications. Those 
proposals, including the reform strategy entitled “Peace 
operations 2010”, required careful examination by 
Member States. The new initiatives would not lead to 
improvements without a clear and comprehensive 
analysis of the existing management structure. It was 
therefore regrettable that the Secretary-General was not 
yet in a position to submit a complete report on the 
review of the management structure of all 
peacekeeping operations. His delegation was aware 
that OIOS was working on a report that would address 
the issue of management structures. However, in the 
meantime, the problem of duplicative, top-heavy 
structures would remain. Moreover, there appeared to 
be little monitoring by Headquarters of the evolution of 
structures in individual missions. 

95. With regard to procurement, the report of OIOS 
on the comprehensive management audit of the 
Department of Peacekeeping Operations (A/60/717) 
drew attention to a lack of care and involvement on the 
part of senior managers, a lack of internal controls and 
ignorance of procurement procedures among field 
procurement officers, as well as highlighting several 
instances in which procurement requirements had been 
overestimated. His delegation noted with deep concern 
the observation made by OIOS that inaccurate 
forecasting of requirements exposed the Organization 
to risks of collusion with vendors, theft and other 
irregular activities. It was also concerned about 
unexplained non-compliance with manuals, guidelines 
and regulations and the increase in the number of cases 
of fraud and presumptive fraud in peacekeeping 
missions. It fully supported the recommendation by the 
Board of Auditors that the Department of Peacekeeping 
Operations should carefully analyse the elements that 
had led to the reported fraud and take the necessary 
punitive measures, draw lessons and share those 
lessons with other missions. 

96. Sexual exploitation and abuse in missions 
tarnished the reputation and credibility of United 
Nations peacekeeping. Accordingly, there must be a 
policy of zero tolerance, and every effort should be 
made to address the systemic weaknesses that 
accounted for such gross misconduct. 



 A/C.5/60/SR.51

 

15 06-35555 
 

97. Despite the fact that all recently established 
missions were complex, integrated missions, there had 
been insufficient explanation and discussion of the 
administrative and budgetary aspects of such missions. 
The observation made by the Board of Auditors that 
there was no formal definition of an integrated mission 
had reinforced his delegation’s concerns in that regard. 
OIOS had found that the integrated mission planning 
process lacked strategic guidance and direction from 
Headquarters and that results-based budgeting was not 
linked to the planning process, which increased the risk 
of inefficient and ineffective use of resources. The 
Administration should formalize the concept of 
integrated mission partnerships, determine their 
function, structure and role, and finalize the principles, 
policies and guidelines to govern integrated missions. 

98. His delegation wished to know more about the 
policy of the Department of Peacekeeping Operations 
concerning authorization of the use of liaison aircraft 
for flights designated for “other tasks”, and it 
concurred with the recommendation of the Board of 
Auditors that the Department should replace the “other 
tasks” flight category with a description of the specific 
nature of such flights in order to facilitate proper 
monitoring and decision-making. In that connection, it 
wished to reiterate its position that integrated missions 
should not be used as a mechanism for financing 
non-mission activities from Member States’ assessed 
contributions. 

99. Inter-mission cooperation contributed to the 
effective use of mission resources. His delegation 
therefore supported the recommendation of the Board 
of Auditors regarding regional coordination plans. The 
Administration should clarify its comment that it was 
cautious about producing such plans owing to concerns 
about operational priorities and limitations on 
resource-sharing. 

100. His delegation endorsed the Advisory 
Committee’s recommendation that the Board of 
Auditors should be requested to analyse the 
management of support account post and non-post 
resources. It attached importance to the implementation 
and follow-up of the Board’s recommendations on air 
transportation, ground transportation, inventory 
management and rations. Lastly, it found the views of 
OIOS on information and communication technology 
appropriate and useful. 

101. Mr. Aljunied (Singapore) said that the 
conclusions of the report of OIOS on the 
comprehensive management audit of the Department of 
Peacekeeping Operations (A/60/717) seemed to 
suggest that the control environments in both the 
Department of Peacekeeping Operations and the 
Department of Management were weak, and that 
internal controls must be strengthened and established 
controls enforced. His delegation saw a need to ensure 
effective follow-up to the recommendations of OIOS. 
To assist Member States, he suggested that a 
comprehensive table indicating the problem areas and 
the status of implementation of the recommendations 
should be prepared, with reasons given for 
non-compliance and areas of disagreement highlighted. 
It was also important to know whether the 
recommendations were being implemented in the field. 

102. Turning to the section on procurement in the 
report, the disagreements between OIOS and the 
Department of Peacekeeping Operations about the 
methodology and quality of parts of the report raised 
questions about decisions made on the basis of it. 
Another shortcoming of the report was that OIOS had 
been unaware of the delegation of procurement 
authority by the Department of Management to the 
Department of Peacekeeping Operations when it had 
prepared the report. Senior staff had been given 
authority to conduct procurement activities in the field 
up to the level of $2 million without seeking approval 
from the Department of Management. That oversight 
raised serious issues as to the conduct of the 
investigations and the conclusions of the OIOS report. 
Had it been aware of that delegation of authority, its 
audit might have focussed attention on senior officials 
of the Department of Peacekeeping Operations 
responsible for procurement. 

103. As stated in the report (A/60/717, paras. 20 and 
21), there was a serious shortage of staff in the 
Procurement Service, which had led to critical tasks 
and operational procedures being overlooked. Several 
requests on record for additional staff had been 
rejected by senior management, however, even before 
the staffing proposals had been submitted to the 
General Assembly. The decision to deny the requests 
for additional staff was absurd, as the Procurement 
Service had fewer staff in 2005, when it had handled 
over $1 billion in procurement volume, than it had in 
the mid-1990s, when the volume had been around 
$300 million. The Procurement Service was being 



A/C.5/60/SR.51  
 

06-35555 16 
 

called to account for deficiencies, even though the 
potential problem had long been identified and no 
action had been taken. He requested an explanation 
from the Department of Management as to why the 
requests for more staff had been rejected. 

104. Another issue of concern was the commissioning 
by senior officials of audit studies on procurement 
activities by firms like Deloitte Consulting LLP, 
without any authorization from Member States. The 
Under-Secretary-General for Management had seen fit 
to use the Deloitte report to paint the United Nations in 
a negative light, as an organization where corruption 
was rife and fraud pervasive, ignoring the fact that 
several prior reports had not unearthed any 
wrongdoing. He also noted that, in 2004, there had 
been some 47 audits of the Procurement Service, 
almost one a week, by OIOS and such external auditors 
as the United States Government Accountability 
Office. It would be interesting to know if those 
auditors had highlighted the fundamental weaknesses 
which the consultants had identified. 

105. It had been over five months since eight staff 
members had been placed on administrative leave to 
facilitate the ongoing audit and investigation into 
procurement activities. Despite all the human and 
financial resources put into the investigation, not a 
shred of evidence had been discovered to substantiate 
the alleged pervasive corruption and substantial 
evidence of abuse in procurement. The only 
conclusions to be drawn were that either there was 
nothing to be found or that the entire army of internal 
and other investigators was grossly incompetent. If the 
system was as flawed as the media had been led to 
believe by the Under-Secretary-General for 
Management and some major contributors, it would 
have been highly irresponsible for management to 
maintain the same procurement system. He would like 
to know who would be held accountable for the costs 
of the investigations in the event that no corruption 
was found and who would be held responsible for the 
damage done to the image and reputation of the United 
Nations. 

106. The serious issues he had raised should be 
addressed as a matter of priority, in the context of the 
ongoing management reforms. In that connection, he 
emphasized that any reform of the United Nations must 
be carried out for the right reasons and with the desire 
to strengthen the Organization for the collective good 
of its membership. 

Agenda item 139: Financing of the United Nations 
Peacekeeping Force in Cyprus (A/60/584, A/60/592 
and A/60/785) 
 
 

Agenda item 142: Financing of the United Nations 
Mission of Support in East Timor (A/60/614 and 
A/60/789) 
 
 

Agenda item 143: Financing of the United Nations 
Mission in Ethiopia and Eritrea (A/60/615, A/60/636 
and Corr.1 and A/60/790) 
 
 

Agenda item 144: Financing of the United Nations 
Observer Mission in Georgia (A/60/643 and Corr.1 
and Corr.2, A/60/652 and A/60/810) 
 
 

Agenda item 146: Financing of the activities arising 
from Security Council resolution 687 (1991) 
 
 

 (a) United Nations Iraq-Kuwait Observation 
Mission (A/60/651 and A/60/788) 

 
 

Agenda item 147: Financing of the United Nations 
Interim Administration Mission in Kosovo (A/60/637, 
A/60/684 and A/60/809) 
 
 

Agenda item 149: Financing of the United Nations 
peacekeeping forces in the Middle East 
 
 

 (a) United Nations Disengagement Observer Force 
(A/60/628 and Corr.1, A/60/641 and Corr.1 and 
Corr.2 and A/60/811) 

 
 

 (b) United Nations Interim Force in Lebanon 
(A/60/629, A/60/642, A/60/812 and Corr.1) 

 

Agenda item 150: Financing of the United Nations 
Mission in Sierra Leone (A/60/631 and A/60/786) 
 

107. Mr. Sach (Controller), introducing in a single 
statement the reports of the Secretary-General on the 
financing of specific peacekeeping missions, drew 
attention to the performance report on the budget of the 
United Nations Peacekeeping Force in Cyprus 
(UNFICYP) for the period from 1 July 2004 to 30 June 
2005 (A/60/584). It revealed total expenditures of 
$48.6 million against an appropriation of 
$49.4 million, leaving an unencumbered balance of 
$0.8 million. The General Assembly would be 
requested to credit to Member States the unencumbered 
balance and other income adjustments ($0.5 million) in 



 A/C.5/60/SR.51

 

17 06-35555 
 

the total amount of $1.3 million in a manner to be 
determined by the Assembly. The proposed budget for 
the period from 1 July 2006 to 30 June 2007 
(A/60/592) would require the General Assembly to 
appropriate the amount of $45 million for the 
maintenance of the Force, including $20.9 million net 
to be funded through voluntary contributions from the 
Government of Cyprus and the Government of Greece, 
and to apportion the balance of the appropriation, 
should the Security Council decide to continue the 
mandate of UNFICYP. 

108. Turning to the performance report on the budget 
of the United Nations Mission of Support in East 
Timor (UNMISET) (A/60/614), expenditure had 
totalled $81.5 million against an appropriation of 
$85.1 million, leaving an unencumbered balance of 
$3.6 million. The General Assembly would be asked to 
credit to Member States the unencumbered balance and 
other income adjustments ($13.2 million) in the total 
amount of $16.8 million in a manner to be determined 
by the Assembly. In paragraph 11 of the report on the 
final disposition of the Mission’s assets (A/60/703), the 
General Assembly was asked to take note of the report. 

109. The performance report on budget of the United 
Nations Mission in Ethiopia and Eritrea (UNMEE) for 
the period from 1 July 2004 to 30 June 2005 
(A/60/615) reported total expenditure of $180.3 million 
against an appropriation of $205.3 million, leaving an 
unencumbered balance of $25 million. The General 
Assembly would be requested to credit to Member 
States the unencumbered balance and other income and 
adjustments ($7.2 million) in the total amount of 
$32.2 million in a manner to be determined by the 
Assembly. The proposed budget for UNMEE for the 
period from 1 July 2006 to 30 June 2007 (A/60/636 
and Corr.1) was $175.3 million, representing a 
decrease of $1.4 million. The General Assembly would 
be requested to appropriate and assess the amount of 
$175.3 million for the maintenance of the Mission for 
the 2006/07 period, should the Security Council decide 
to continue the mandate of the Mission. 

110. The performance report on the budget of the 
United Nations Observer Mission in Georgia 
(UNOMIG) for the period from 1 July 2004 to 30 June 
2005 (A/60/643 and Corr.1 and Corr.2) showed 
expenditures of $31.1 million against an appropriation 
of $31.9 million, leaving an unencumbered balance of 
$0.8 million. The General Assembly would be 
requested to credit to Member States the unencumbered 

balance and other income and adjustments ($1 million) 
in the total amount of $1.8 million in a manner to be 
determined by the Assembly. The proposed budget for 
UNOMIG for the period from 1 July 2006 to 30 June 
2007 (A/60/652) was $33.7 million, which represented 
a decrease of $0.9 million. The General Assembly 
would be asked to appropriate and assess the amount of 
$33.7 million for the maintenance of the Mission for 
the 2006/07 period, should the Security Council decide 
to continue its mandate. 

111. The final performance report of the United 
Nations Iraq-Kuwait Observation Mission (UNIKOM) 
was contained in document A/60/651. Pursuant to 
Security Council resolution 1490 (2003), the mandate 
of UNIKOM had expired on 6 October 2003. The 
liquidation activities, including disposal of assets, had 
been carried out during the period from 4 July to 
6 November 2003. Expenditure for the period from 
1 July to 6 November 2003 had amounted to 
$7 million. The income, expenditure and fund balance 
for the period from inception, on 9 April 1991 to 
30 June 2005, were presented in table 2 of the report. 
The General Assembly would be requested to return 
two thirds of the cash balance of $41.8 million, 
equivalent to $27.8 million, to the Government of 
Kuwait, and to credit Member States with the 
remaining balance of $13.9 million in a manner to be 
determined by the Assembly. 

112. The performance report on the budget of the 
United Nations Interim Administration Mission in 
Kosovo (UNMIK) for the period from 1 July 2004 to 
30 June 2005 (A/60/637) showed expenditures of 
$294.5 million against an appropriation of 
$294.6 million, leaving an unencumbered balance of 
$0.1 million. The General Assembly would be 
requested to credit to Member States the unencumbered 
balance and other income and adjustments 
($10.3 million) for a total of $10.4 million, in a manner 
to be determined by the Assembly. The proposed 
budget for the period from 1 July 2006 to 30 June 2007 
(A/60/684) was $219.2 million, which represented a 
decrease of $20.7 million. The General Assembly 
would be requested to appropriate and assess the 
amount of $219.2 million for the maintenance of the 
Mission for the 2006/07 period. 

113. Turning to the financing of the United Nations 
Disengagement Observer Force (UNDOF), he said that 
the performance report for the period from 1 July 2004 
to 30 June 2005 (A/60/628 and Corr.1) showed 



A/C.5/60/SR.51  
 

06-35555 18 
 

expenditures of $40.8 million against an appropriation 
of $40.9 million, leaving an unencumbered balance of 
$0.1 million. The General Assembly was requested to 
credit to Member States the unencumbered balance and 
other income and adjustments ($1.9 million) for a total 
of $2 million in a manner to be determined by the 
Assembly. The proposed budget for the period from 
1 July 2006 to 30 June 2007 (A/60/641 and Corr.1 and 
Corr.2) amounted to $40 million, a decrease of 
$1.5 million from the previous period. The General 
Assembly would be requested to appropriate and assess 
the amount of $40 million for the maintenance of the 
Force for the 2006/07 period, should the Security 
Council decide to continue the mandate of UNDOF. 

114. With regard to the financing of the United 
Nations Interim Force in Lebanon (UNIFIL), the 
performance report for the period from 1 July 2004 to 
30 June 2005 (A/60/629) showed expenditures of 
$89.2 million against an appropriation of 
$92.9 million, leaving an unencumbered balance of 
$3.7 million. The General Assembly would be 
requested to credit to Member States the unencumbered 
balance and other income and adjustments 
($5.1 million) in the total amount of $8.8 million in a 
manner to be determined by the Assembly. The 
proposed budget for the period from 1 July 2006 to 
30 June 2007 (A/60/642) was $94.1 million. The 
General Assembly would be requested to appropriate 
and assess that amount for the maintenance of the 
Force for the 2006/07 period, should the Security 
Council decide to continue the mandate of UNIFIL. 

115. Finally, with regard to the financing of the United 
Nations Mission in Sierra Leone (UNAMSIL), the 
performance report for the period from 1 July 2004 to 
30 June 2005 (A/60/631) showed expenditures of 
$264.5 million against an appropriation of 
$291.6 million, leaving an unencumbered balance of 
$27.1 million. The General Assembly would be 
requested to credit to Member States the unencumbered 
balance and other income and adjustments 
($72.2 million) in the total amount of $99.3 million in 
a manner to be determined by the Assembly. 

116. Mr. Abraszewski (Vice-Chairman, of the 
Advisory Committee on Administrative and Budgetary 
Questions (ACABQ)) introduced the reports of the 
Advisory Committee on the financing of the nine 
peacekeeping operations. In its report on UNFICYP 
(A/60/785), the Advisory Committee recommended 
acceptance of the Secretary-General’s proposal for the 

2006/07 budget. In the light of the interdependence and 
complementarity of the mandates of the Special 
Adviser and of UNFICYP and given the extensive 
knowledge and experience acquired by the Force over 
the many years of its presence in Cyprus, it should be 
possible for UNFICYP to provide support to the 
Special Adviser in carrying out his mandate. The 
Advisory Committee urged UNFICYP to make every 
effort to avoid any duplication of effort and to ensure 
efficiency and optimum use of resources. It requested 
that any savings realized under the Office of the 
Special Adviser to the Secretary-General on Cyprus as 
a result of the support provided by UNFICYP to be 
reflected in the performance report. 

117. The Advisory Committee was of the opinion that 
in long-established missions such as UNFICYP, the 
proportion of support staff should be lower than in the 
more recent, complex missions, which had a heavier 
burden during the start-up and initial phases. The 
proportion of support staff to military personnel should 
therefore gradually decrease with time, and the grade 
levels of civilian staff should also be adjusted to the 
levels of effective responsibility, especially when the 
missions were downsized, as had been the case of 
UNFICYP in 2005. There was a need for all 
peacekeeping operations to carry out a periodic review 
of the number and grade levels of support staff, in 
particular following a change of mandate or 
downsizing. 

118. With regard to its report on UNMISET 
(A/60/789), the Advisory Committee had considered 
both the performance report for the period from 1 July 
2004 to 30 June 2005 and the report on the final 
disposition of UNMISET assets. The performance 
report provided a detailed snapshot of the Mission’s 
planned indicators of achievement and related outputs 
for the 2004/05 period. The Advisory Committee 
recommended that the General Assembly should take 
note of the report on the final disposition of the assets 
of UNMISET. 

119. Turning to the report on UNMEE (A/60/790), he 
said that the Committee recommended acceptance of 
the Secretary-General’s proposal for UNMEE. Should 
the Security Council take action that would modify the 
scope of its operations, as foreseen in the budget 
submission for the 2006/07 period, revised estimates 
should be presented expeditiously. 



 A/C.5/60/SR.51

 

19 06-35555 
 

120. In paragraph 26 of document A/60/810, 
containing its report on UNOMIG, the Advisory 
Committee recommended a slight reduction in the 
resources requested but otherwise recommended 
acceptance of the Secretary-General’s proposals. In its 
report on UNIKOM (A/60/788), the Advisory 
Committee recommended that the General Assembly 
should accept the proposal of the Secretary-General 
with regard to the final performance report of 
UNIKOM. 

121. The Advisory Committee did not recommend any 
reduction for UNMIK in its report (A/60/809). With 
regard to the performance report, the Committee had 
noted with concern an apparent lack of progress in 
reducing the level of expenditures that were 
subsequently cancelled, and it expected that the next 
performance report would contain information on 
specific measures taken to mitigate the situation. 

122. On the budget of UNMIK, the Advisory 
Committee had reiterated its request that the proposed 
budget should explain both the rationale for 
downsizing, as well as the linkages for proposals for 
reduced staffing and financial resources. It had taken 
into account the large number of proposed abolitions 
and downward reclassifications and noted that post 
changes mainly reflected reprogramming of functions. 
The Advisory Committee had commented on proposed 
resource requirements for the conduct and discipline 
team at UNMIK and expected that those resources 
would be used for the intended purpose only and in full 
compliance with General Assembly resolution 59/296. 
That comment was also applicable to similar units 
proposed for other missions. 

123. In its report contained in document A/60/811, the 
Advisory Committee recommended acceptance of the 
estimates for UNDOF. With regard to UNIFIL, in its 
report (A/60/812), the Advisory Committee commented 
on an investigation related to the supply of fuel and 
rations that implicated one of the Force’s contingents. 
It pointed out that fraud cases caused a financial ripple 
effect, in that there were indirect costs in addition to 
the direct costs. In the UNIFIL case, the financial 
burden placed on Member States would also include, 
inter alia, travel-related costs of repatriating the 
contingent members concerned and replacing them 
with new contingent members, as well as deployment-
related costs (physical equipment transport and 
personnel travel) to and from UNIFIL of the outgoing 
and incoming contingents. 

124. The documentation for UNAMSIL was limited to 
a performance report for the 2004/05 period. The 
Advisory Committee noted that there was a divergence 
between the budgetary assumptions and actual 
payments for the salaries of national staff, a situation 
that had also occurred in several other missions, and it 
trusted that steps would be taken to rationalize them. It 
had been informed of a pattern of extensive fuel fraud 
at UNAMSIL, which demonstrated the necessity of 
strengthening the monitoring of fuel consumption 
across all peacekeeping operations urgently. Part IV of 
the Advisory Committee’s report on UNAMSIL 
(A/60/786) contained a discussion of the activities of 
the Mission related to liquidation. The Advisory 
Committee emphasized once again the heightened need 
for close oversight during the liquidation phase and for 
close coordination between UNAMSIL and OIOS to 
ensure that proper oversight mechanisms were in place 
during the liquidation phase and that due attention was 
paid to ensuring strict application of United Nations 
rules and regulations and accepted practices in a 
transparent manner. 

125. Mr. Diab (Syrian Arab Republic) said that 
UNDOF had been created 30 years earlier by Security 
Council resolution 350 (1974) as a result of the Israeli 
occupation of the Syrian Arab Golan and the continued 
failure of Israel to comply with that and subsequent 
resolutions by withdrawing to its 1967 borders. He 
reiterated his delegation’s position that the funding of 
UNDOF must be borne by the occupying Power. His 
Government had respected the Disengagement 
Agreement; it welcomed the presence of UNDOF and 
offered its support to the mission. 
 
 

Other matters 
 

126. Mr. Elnaggar (Egypt) said that, on 16 May 2006, 
the Secretary-General had announced the appointment 
of Ms. Carolyn McAskie as the Assistant 
Secretary-General for Peacebuilding Support. His 
delegation requested clarification of the implications of 
draft resolution A/C.5/601/L.2, which the Committee 
had adopted, and how that appointment fulfilled its 
mandate. The Committee had not endorsed the 
Secretary-General’s proposals or the ACABQ 
recommendations, and had not therefore established 
any such office or related posts. 

The meeting rose at 1 p.m. 

 


